Board of Registration in Dentistry

General Session Agenda & Minutes

January 7, 2026    
(Approved by the Board on March 4, 2026)


COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
NOTICE OF THE REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING OF THE

BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY
January 7, 2026
Via WebEx from 250 Washington Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
AGENDA 

If you need reasonable accommodations in order to participate in the meeting, contact the DPH ADA Coordinator Ms. Stacy Hart by email at Stacy.Hart@mass.gov or by phone at 857-274-1120, in advance of the meeting. While the Board will do its best to accommodate you, certain accommodations may require distinctive requests or the hiring of outside contractors and may not be available if requested immediately before the meeting.  Only the General Session is open to the public and may be viewed and/or heard via WebEx.

WebEx Information: Please send an email to Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH at barbara.a.young@mass.gov at least 24 hours before the meeting to request an email invitation to attend this meeting by video conference. The invitation will contain a direct link to the meeting.

You may also obtain video and audio access to all sessions of the meeting open to the 
public through the following link: 

https://eohhs.webex.com/eohhs/j.php?MTID=m3160712571f6897e69e36d7929e61bd2
Call-in number for audio-only attendance: 1- (617) 315-0704 (toll) or 1-(650) 479-3208 (toll) only if you have no access to video conference.
Access Code:  2534 103 8513
Attendee ID:   #              Password:    BORID1234
	8:30 a.m.
	
	CALL TO ORDER, DETERMINATION OF QUORUM, AND  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA


	
	

	8:32 a.m.
	I
	GENERAL SESSION

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS:

1. Review of Minutes from the December 17, 2025 Meeting of the BORID Committee on Dental Hygiene Licensure by Foreign Trained Dentists 
2. Consideration of Proposed Licensure Requirements (Updated) from the BORID Committee on Dental Hygiene Licensure by Foreign Trained Dentists
3. Consideration of Minutes from the BORID meetings on:
a.  October 8, 2025

b.  November 5, 2025

c.  December 3, 2025

       4.   Update on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR

       5.   Consideration of Updated BORID Policy on the Administration of 

             Botox and Derma Fillers

       6.   Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual 

             Permit B:              In Re:  Dr. Hassan Moeinzad, DN21224

       7.   Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Dental   

             Hygiene license:  In Re:  Susan P. Mickey, DH7648

       8.   Monthly Probation Report
       9.   Flex session

	
	Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Board Counsel

Michael Egan, Esq.

Probation Dept. Coordinator 

K. Fishman

	
	II
	COMPLAINT RESOLUTION: PENDING BOARD MATTERS

1.
DEN-2025-0074:     Lori Fedele, RDH
	
	Dental Investigator:

M. Hebert

	10:00 a.m.
	III
	EXECUTIVE SESSION  (closed to the public)

	
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH



	10:30 a.m.
	IV
	MGL c. 112, s. 65C SESSION   (closed to the public)


	 
	Executive Director

Barbara A.

Young, RDH

	3:30 p.m.
	
	ADJOURNMENT
	
	


MASSACHUSETTS BOARD OF REGISTRATION IN DENTISTRY

250 Washington Street, Boston, MA  02108
GENERAL SESSION MINUTES 

 January 7, 2026
Present:  Dr. Michael Scialabba, Board Chair; Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Board Secretary; 
Dr. Richard T. Miller; Dr. Sabina Malla; Dr. Seema Jacob; Dr. Kasra Rafia; Ms. Jacyn Stultz, MS, RDH; Ms. Ailish Wilkie, MS, CPHRM, CPPS, CPHQ; Ms. Jennifer McKeon, M.Ed., RDH, CDA
Absent:   Ms. Stacy Haluch, RDH
Board Staff Present: Barbara A. Young, RDH, Executive Director; Kyle Rippstein, Associate Executive Director; Chief Board Counsel Heather Engman, Esq.; Board Counsel Michael Egan, Esq.; Dr. Liliana DiFabio, Supervisor of Investigations; OPP Investigators Kathleen O’Connell, Jaris Bueno, Eileen Mulligan, Rhonda Heard, Melissa Hebert and Deborah El-Majdoubi; Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman.
	Motion:
	At 8:34 a.m., to adopt the proposed agenda for today’s meeting


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:
Vote:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller
In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 
Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 
Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon 

Opposed: None
Abstain: None



Administrative Matters:
1.
Request for Consideration of Application to Reactivate an Expired Dental Hygiene License  – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH
In Re:  Susan P. Mickey, License No. DH7648

The licensee was present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter and answered all questions as appropriate.

Ms. Mickey thanked the Board for the opportunity to address its members and noted she graduated from dental hygiene school in 1984 and joined a large group practice.  Ms. Mickey stated she returned to school to obtain a master's degree and continued to work part-time as a dental hygienist up until 2017 when she left active practice to begin teaching.  Ms. Mickey noted she has completed all CEUs required to reactivate her expired license.  Dr. Miller asked if the Board had a precedent for someone who has not actively practiced in the preceding ten years; Ms. Stultz replied the Board typically requires hygienists in this situation who have not actively practiced for the preceding five years to retake a dental hygiene clinical competency exam or complete a hands-on clinical refresher course.

Ms. Mickey noted she has already spoken with Ms. Joyce Turcotte and the next course is scheduled for May 2026 and costs approx. $3600 not including lodging.  Ms. Stultz noted the clinical competency exam only takes two hours and costs much less.  

	Motion:
	To require the licensee to submit proof she has retaken and passed all sections of the dental hygiene clinical competency exam OR proof she has successfully completed a hands-on dental hygiene clinical refresher course



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller

	Second:
Vote:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 
Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 
Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon 

Opposed: None
Abstain: None




2.
Review of the December 17, 2025 Minutes from the BORID's Foreign Trained Dentists to Dental Hygienist Committee Meeting – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

	Motion:
	To approve the Minutes of the BORID's Foreign Trained Dentists to Dental Hygienists Committee Meeting on December 17, 2025


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:
	Ms. Jennifer McKeon

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Kasra Rafia, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon,

Opposed: None
Abstain: Ms. Stacy Haluch


3.
Request for Consideration of Proposed Licensure Requirements (Updated) from the BORID Committee on Dental Hygiene Licensure by Foreign Trained Dentists – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Several letters from the Alliance of Independent Dentists, the Medicaid Orthodontists of Massachusetts Association and the Mass. Dental Society were submitted to the Board for its consideration.  

Ms. Stultz, the Committee Chair, asked the Board members if they had any concerns or questions about the Committee's proposed licensure requirements.  Ms. Stultz noted the Committee decided to extend the look-back period to ten years from the original proposal of five years when determining when a dentist had last actively practiced.  Dr. Rafia noted the Committee's intent was to capture more eligible applicants; Ms. Stultz agreed noting the five year look-back was too restrictive.  But Dr. Miller noted the letters submitted to the Board contradict that intent and asked what would happen, for example, if a dentist last practiced 12 years ago in his/her home country but moved to the US and practiced during the last two years; Ms. Young replied in that situation, she would submit the application to the Board for its consideration.  

Ms. Stultz noted foreign trained dentists have very little experience with preventive dentistry according to the individuals who attended each Committee meeting.  Dr. Miller asked if a ten year look back period is outdated but Dr. Scialabba asked how is that different from a dentist who never practiced.  Atty. Egan noted the law requires a certificate of good standing and practice duration from the dentist's home country and that the home country's standards are comparable to the standards required by the Board.  Dr. Scialabba noted the five year period comes from the language of the statute and noted these applications must be considered on a case-by-case basis.  Dr. Rafia noted a ten year look back allows for a bigger group of applicants; Ms. Stultz agreed noting the Board can always revise its requirements in the future.


Dr. Jennifer Korzeb, Vice President of the Mass. Dental Society, suggested the Board refrain from adopting the ten year look back period as it may exclude otherwise qualified applicants.  Dr. Abdul Abdulwaheed, Immediate Past President of the Mass. Dental Society, stated the statute was written in collaboration with the Mass. Dental Hygienists' Association in an attempt to address the shortage of dental hygienists and agreed a ten year look back would unnecessarily exclude qualified candidates.  Dr. Mouhab Rizkallah opined the use of the term "shall" in the statute precludes the Board from establishing a ten year look back and suggested the Board must follow the law but Atty. Egan noted the Board is not approve any regulatory amendments today as it is only considering the licensure recommendations of its Committee. 

Dr. Miller suggested removing the ten year look back clause from the recommendations; Dr. Jacob agreed.  But Ms. Stultz asked if the Board was okay with approving an application where the applicant has not practiced dental hygiene.  Dr. Scialabba asked what if an applicant is a limited licensee; Dr. Miller replied that should not disqualify a candidate.  
	Motion:
	To remove the 10-year look back requirement from the Committee's licensure recommendations


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller

	Second:
	Dr. Seema Jacob

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 
Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 
Ms. Jennifer McKeon

Opposed: Ms. Jacyn Stultz
Abstain: None

	Motion:
	To adopt the Committee's licensure recommendations, as amended

	Motion Made By:


	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:


	Dr. Seema Jacob

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jennifer McKeon
Opposed: Ms. Jacyn Stultz
Abstain: None


4.
Review of the General Session Minutes from the BORID Meetings on October 8, 2025, November 5, 2025 and December 3, 2025 – Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

	Motion:
	To approve the General Session Minutes of the BORID Meeting on October 8, 2025


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba

	Second:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia     

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Richard T. Miller, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jennifer McKeon,

Ms. Jacyn Stultz
Opposed: None
Abstain: None 


	Motion:
	To approve the General Session Minutes of the BORID Meeting on November 5, 2025


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba

	Second:
	Dr. Richard T. Miller     

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 
Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, 

Opposed: None
Abstain: Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Seema Jacob 


Dr. Thomas Trowbridge joined the meeting at 9:33 a.m.

	Motion:
	To approve the General Session Minutes of the BORID Meeting on December 3, 2025


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Kasra Rafia

	Second:
	Ms. Jacyn Stultz

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, 
Dr. Sabina Malla, Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Dr. Kasra Rafia, 
Dr. Seema Jacob
Opposed: None
Abstain: Ms. Jennifer McKeon
(Dr. Richard T. Miller was unavailable for the vote of the Board.)


5.
Update on Proposed Amendments to 234 CMR - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

Atty. Egan informed the Board the proposed amendments are a priority and are undergoing final revisions.  Atty. Egan noted he expected the regulations will be sent along in a few weeks for final review; Ms. Young asked to where.  Atty. Egan replied to the DPH Commissioner's Office.  Atty. Engman  noted once finalized, the regulations will be forwarded to the Executive Office of Health and Human Services.  Ms. Stultz asked if a public hearing will be scheduled; Ms. Young replied not necessary as the Board has already held a few public hearings on its proposed amendments to 234 CMR.  Dr. Trowbridge asked if the process will be complete by the Yankee Dental Congress in late January; Ms. Young replied not likely.  Atty. Engman noted no changes have been made to the regulatory language as the language has already been approved by the Board.  Ms. Stultz noted this process has taken a very long time and that several Board members have never seen the proposed amendments.  Dr. Trowbridge asked how much longer; Atty. Egan replied the proposed amendments won't go into effect until the Mass. Secretary of State's Office publishes the update sometime this spring.  
6.
Request for Consideration of Updated BORID Policy on the Administration of Botox and Derma Fillers - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH


Atty. Egan noted the Board occasionally receives information or complaints that indicate a dentist has administered Botox and derma fillers in violation of the Board's policy and/or in settings outside a dental practice, i.e. a medical spa.  Atty. Egan advised the Board this updated policy limits the settings where these products may be administered by a dentist and is an ideal way to revise the Board's current policy.  Ms. Stultz asked if it would be okay for a dentist to work in a medical spa; Atty. Egan replied it would not be okay per this updated policy.  Dr. Scialabba asked if the nursing board has any similar limitation; Atty. Egan replied he is not aware how the nursing board handles this issue.  Dr. Trowbridge noted this updated policy fulfills the original intent of the committee who drafted the Board's original policy.  
	Motion:
	To adopt the amended policy on the administration of Botox and derma fillers by dentists


	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba

	Second:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge     

	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Sabina Malla, 

Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Seema Jacob, 
Dr. Thomas Trowbridge
Opposed: Ms. Jacyn Stultz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon
Abstain:  None 

(Dr. Richard T. Miller was unavailable for the Board vote.)


7.
Request for Consideration of an Application to Reactivate an Expired Individual Permit B - Executive Director Barbara A. Young, RDH

In Re:  Dr. Hassan Moeinzad, DN21224

The licensee was not present for the discussion of the Board on this matter.


As the licensee was not present to answer the Board's questions, the Board elected to defer the consideration of this matter until its next meeting in February.

8.
Monthly Probation Report – Probation Dept. Coordinator Karen Fishman


The Board members had no questions for Ms. Fishman.
Flex Session:
1.
Ms. Stultz asked if everything was all set for the Board's courses at the Yankee Dental Congress later this month; Ms. Young replied everything is in order.  
2.
Ms. Stultz asked if Dr. Mina Paul, the Board's ADEX representative, could be invited to address the Board at its next meeting in February regarding any updates from ADEX; Ms. Young replied she will invite Dr. Paul to join the next Board meeting on February 4th.
3.
Dr. Trowbridge asked if the work on drafting a universal investigative report has been completed; Dr. DiFabio replied not yet. 
4.
Dr. Trowbridge asked if there were any updates regarding a dentist's or other licensee's ability to record phone conversations; Ms. Young asked Dr. Trowbridge what sort of update he was seeking.  Dr. Trowbridge replied the legal requirements to record phone conversations in Massachusetts;  Atty. Egan replied Massachusetts is a two-party state and noted if a licensee is found to have violated the legal requirements then the Board may investigate and discipline the licensee, if warranted.  Ms. Stultz asked if the information gained through an illegal recording be used by the Board; Atty. Egan replied he could only recall one complaint where a patient was unhappy with her dentist's answering service.  Ms. Stultz suggested the requirements must be clear as they are ambiguous.  Ms. Young noted this two-party consent requirement does not pertain just to healthcare providers but applies to all citizens who decide to record their phone conversations.  
 Complaint Resolution – Investigator Melissa Hebert
--In the Matter of DEN-2025-0074: Lori Fedele, RDH
The licensee was not present for the discussion and vote of the Board on this matter.

	Allegation(s):
	Malpractice settlement


	Materials Reviewed:
	Investigative report with attachments

	Discussion:
	Ms. Hebert informed the Board the licensee settled a malpractice suit for $47,000 that alleged the licensee failed to diagnose decay and the licensee failed to notify the Board of that settlement.  However, Ms. Hebert noted a companion suit against the licensee's dental employer/supervisor was not filed by the patient.  Ms. Hebert stated the dentist employer reported the licensee retired from active practice shortly after this suit was filed and that the licensee refuses to reply to the complaint.  
Ms. Stultz asked how could this happen noting dental hygienists are not permitted to diagnose decay and questioned why a suit wasn't filed against the dentist.  Dr. Scialabba agreed noting a $47,000 settlement against a dental hygienist is too high and suggested something else is going on with this case.  Ms. Hebert noted the patient's treatment notes indicate no exam was performed by a dentist between 2019 and 2023.  Dr. Scialabba noted there is no record of periodontal charting by the licensee.  

The Board elected to defer the consideration of this matter until its next meeting on February 4th in Executive Session and asked Ms. Young to invite the licensee to that meeting.  



	Motion: 

Motion made by:
	To open formal complaints on the grounds of inferior treatment, record keeping violations and violation of general practice standards against the two dentists involved in the patient's treatment:
Dr. Kevin F. McNeil   License No. DN1856336

Dr. John Lake             License No. DN14541
Ms. Jacyn Stultz


	Second:
	Dr. Thomas Trowbridge


	Vote:


	In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 

Dr. Kasra Rafia, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 

Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Dr. Thomas Trowbridge 

Opposed: None
Abstain: None




Dr. Kasra Rafia left  the meeting at 10:38 a.m.

The Board took its morning recess at 10:38 a.m. and resumed its meeting at 10:55 a.m.
	Motion:
	At 10:55 a.m. to enter a closed Executive Session



	Motion Made By:
	Dr. Michael Scialabba 


Second:

   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 




   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 




   Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon 




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

	Motion:
	At 11:16 a.m. to enter a closed MGL c. 12,  §65C Session



	Motion Made By:
	Ms. Jacyn Stultz 


Second:

   Ms. Jennifer McKeon 

Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 




   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 




   Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon 




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

The Board recessed for lunch at 12:05 p.m. and resumed its meeting at 1:04 p.m.

Ms. Ailish Wilkie joined the meeting at 1:04 p.m.
Motion:

   At 2:01 p.m. to adjourn the meeting
Motion Made By:
   Dr. Michael Scialabba
Second:

   Ms. Ailish Wilkie
Vote:


   In Favor: Dr. Michael Scialabba, Dr. Richard T. Miller, 




   Dr. Thomas Trowbridge, Dr. Seema Jacob, Dr. Sabina Malla, 




   Ms. Jacyn Stutlz, Ms. Jennifer McKeon, Ms. Ailish Wilkie




   Opposed: None



   Abstain: None

Respectfully submitted,

Barbara A. Young, RDH, JD
Executive Director

DATED:   February 10, 2026
2

